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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MIGUEL RODRIGUEZ : CIVIL ACTION NO.
Plaintiff : COMPLAINT
v.
WIDENER UNIVERSITY, : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CITY OF CHESTER, PENNSYLVANIA, :
DAVID COUGHLIN, DENISE GIFFORD :
PATRICK SULLIVAN, MATTHEW
DONOHUE

Defendants

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT FORM

Miguel Rodriguez plaintiff in the above listed civil action is not a nongovernmental corporate
entity and therefore does not have any parent corporation and publicly held corporation that

owns 10% or more of stock.

oue /12 %

Lewis P. Hannah, Counsel for Plaintiff
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L, ord do hereby certify:

at to the best of my knowledge and belief, the damages recoverable in this civil action case exceed the sum of

1, LEWIS P. HANNAH
O Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 53.2, Section 3(c)(2
$150,000.00 exclusive of interest and costs;
O Relief other than monetary damages is sopgh
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7 [4

. . 57247
Attorney-at-Law S Co : Attorney 1.D #
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DATE: /
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MIGUEL RODRIGUEZ : CIVIL ACTION NO.
Plaintiff : COMPLAINT
V.
WIDENER UNIVERSITY, : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CITY OF CHESTER, PENNSYLVANIA, :
DAVID COUGHLIN, DENISE GIFFORD :
PATRICK SULLIVAN, MATTHEW
DONOHUE

Defendants

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff, Miguel Rodriguez, a decorated veteran brings this action to redress the
deprivation under color of state law of his constitutional and civil rights. Plaintiff further seeks
to recover damages caused by defendants’ invasion of Plaintiff’s privacy, theft of Plaintiff’s
private information and unlawful interception access to acquired exported data and other stored
electronic communications in violation of The Electronic Communications Privacy Act, The

Stored Communications Act, .§1983 of the Civil Rights Act, the Fifth Amendment of the United
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States Constitution the Pennsylvania Wiretapping and Electronic Surveillance Act 18 Pa. C.S.A.
§1507 et. seq. (“PWESA”) The Rehabilitation Act 29 U.S.C. § 704 and Pennsylvania Common

Law.

JURISDICTION

This action is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 of the Civil Rights Act. §§ 2511 and
2520 of The Electronic Communications Privacy Act (“AECPA”), 18 U.S.C.§ 1030, § 2701 of
The Stored Communications Act (“SCA?”), the Fourth and Fifth Amendments of the United
States Constitution the Rehabilitation Act , 29 U.S.C. § 704 and the Pennsylvania Wiretapping
and electronic Surveillance Act 18 Pa. C.S.A§.5701 et.seq. (“PWESA™), and Pennsylvania

common law,

The Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s federal law claims pursuant to 28
U.S.C.§§1331 and 1137 and supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law claims pursuant

to 28 U.S.C. §1367.

VENUE

Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) as each

defendant is a resident of and/or maintains a permanent business office in this district.

PARTIES

1. Miguel Rodriguez is an honorably discharged veteran of the U.S. Navy and resides at 399

Keanon Drive, Upper Chichester, PA 19061.
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2. The defendant, Widener University (“Widener”) is a corporate educational entity which
provides post-secondary and graduate school education. Its main place of business is located at

One University Place, Chester, PA 19013.

3. The defendant, Dr. Denise Gifford (“Gifford”) is an adult individual who is an Associate

Provost Dean of Students at Widener University

4. The defendant David Coughlin (“Coughlin”) is an adult individual who is a professor at

Widener University.

5. The defendant, City of Chester is a municipal corporation with its principal place of

business located at One Fourth Street, Chester, PA 19013.

6. Defendant Patrick Sullivan (“Sullivan”) was at all times relevant an employee of Widener

University and employed as the Director of Campus Safety.

7. Defendant Matthew Donohue (“Donohue”) was at all times relevant an employee of the

City of Chester employed as a police officer.

FACTUAL AND GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

8. Plaintiff initially enrolled at Widener University in September 2008 under the G.I. Bill

after serving 6 years in the U.S. Navy.

9. While in the Navy Plaintiff trained in search and rescue, first aid and emergency

medicine and as an Emergency Medical Technician (EMT).

10.  Plaintiff was enrolled in the Biology Pre-Med Program in pursuit of his goal to become a

medical doctor.



Case 2:13-cv-01336-JP Document1 Filed 03/13/13 Page 9 of 20

11.  Plaintiff achieved above average grades and at the time of the occurrence of the facts

herein was interviewing with various medical schools for admission.

12. At the time of his enrollment, Plaintiff was assigned defendant Coughlin as his advisor.
Plaintiff and Coughlin were at odds as a result of Plaintiff’s view on “Creationism” and
Coughlin’s views on “Evolution”. Defendant Coughlin expressed a dislike for plaintiff because
of his race African American. Also defendant Coughlin refused to provide any assistance to

Plaintiff and ignored his requests for help or advice.

13.  While enrolled Plaintiff was employed by Defendant Widener as an advisor and

Operations Manager.

14.  On or about March 16, 2011, Plaintiff was required to appear in the office of Dean

Denise Gifford.

15. On information and belief, Defendants, Gifford, Sullivan and Widener obtained
proprietary information from Plaintiff’s medical providers in North Carolina without Plaintiff’s

authorization.

16. On or about March 16, 2011, without Plaintiff’s authorization Defendant Sullivan gained

access to Plaintiff’s Facebook account and printed images therefrom.

17. Without being advised of his “Miranda” rights, Plaintiff was interrogated by defendants

Donahue, Sullivan and Gifford regarding certain email transmissions and Facebook postings.

18. During the interrogation Plaintiff was asked questions about his meritorious military

service.
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19.  According to defendant Sullivan, plaintiff was suspended due to the fact that he was
perceived to be a threat to the community and due to the fact that he displayed weapons on

Facebook.

20.  Also during the interrogation, defendant Donohue mistakenly thought he heard plaintiff
say in, the presence of defendant Sullivan, something to the effect that he was trained to kill and

would kill again.

21. Defendant Sullivan testified under oath that plaintiff did not make such a statement.

22.  Atthe end of the interrogation defendant Donohue concluded that since plaintiff was
“very calm”, it was necessary for Plaintiff to be involuntarily evaluated mentally by a

Psychiatrist at Crozer Chester Medical Center.

23. On information and belief, defendant Donohue communicated his conclusions to

defendants Gifford and Sullivan

24. At the conclusion of the interrogation, plaintiff was involuntarily transported by Donahue

in a marked police car to the Crozer Chester Medical Center.

25.  During the investigation plaintiff was informed that he was temporarily suspended by

defendant Widener University.

26.  While in the police car and outside of the presence of defendants Sullivan and Gifford,
defendant Donohue searched Plaintiff’s backpack and found a knife and less than 30 grams of

marijuana.

27. For the period commencing March 17, 2011 and ending March 24, 2011, Plaintiff was

subjected to involuntary testing and evaluation. Thereafter, on information and belief,



Case 2:13-cv-01336-JP Document1 Filed 03/13/13 Page 11 of 20

defendants, without Plaintiff’s authorization, obtained results of his testing and evaluation from

Crozer Chester Medical Center.

28.  As the result of the involuntary commitment, Plaintiff was forced to miss an interview for

admission to medical school, awards and school.

29.  On or about March 24, 2011 plaintiff was discharged and cleared to return to school.

30. By letter dated March 25, 2011, Plaintiff was advised that he was suspended from the
University because the Chester Police, while plaintiff was in police custody, found less than 30
grams of marijuana and a knife in his book bag. Conversely, in order to be readmitted, plaintiff
was required to be assessed by a Dr. Beth Howlett in the office of Disabilities Services at

defendant Widener University.

31.  For the period commencing March 16, 2011 and ending March 24, 2011, defendant

Coughlin made various libelous statements.

a. On or about the evening of March 16, 2011 Coughlin placed a call to campus

security falsely stating that plaintiff was restricted from campus.

b. On or about March 24, 2011 Coughlin made a series of calls to Detective Nelson

Collins of the Chester Police Department to state that plaintiff had threatened to kill him.

32.  Upon information and belief on or about March 25, 201 1.defendants Widener University,
City of Chester Pennsylvania, Gifford, Patrick Sullivan and Donohue agreed and acted together
to dismiss plaintiff as a student from the University and terminate his employment with the

University.
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COUNTI

Violation of the Civil Rights Act (42 U.S.C. §1983).

33.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation set forth above as if fully set

forth herein.

34.  Section 1983 states in pertinent part:

“Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance,
regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory
or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be
subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person
within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights,
privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws,
shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in
equity or other proper proceeding for redress...”
35.  All defendants are “persons” within the meaning of §1983, in that at all times material

hereto they were acting under the color of state law as a political subdivision of the

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, or a representative thereof.

36.  Plaintiff’s unwarranted dismissal from the University, and the termination of his
employment deprived plaintift of his right to privacy as protected by the Fourth Amendment of

the United States Constitution.

37. Plaintiff first learned of defendants unlawful deprivation of his privacy rights on March
17, 2011, therefore this action has been commenced within §1983’s applicable two year statute

of limitation;
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38.  Plaintiff’s unlawful interrogation by the University and his unlawful custody by the
Chester Police Department in restraining plaintiff and wrongfully having him admitted to the

hospital violated his rights under the fourth and fifth amendments.

39.  Defendants conduct in accessing and distributing plaintiff’s e-mail and Facebook images
resulted in the deprivation of Plaintiff’s constitutionally protected right to privacy. Defendants’
acts were intentional, extreme and outrageous, and thereby entitles plaintiff to an award of

punitive damages.

COUNT 1T

42 U.S.C. §§ 1985

40.  Plaintiff incorporates reference paragraphs 1 through 37 though fully set forth herein.

41.  On information and belief, defendants were acting under color of law, to deprive plaintiff
of his rights secured by the Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution in
violation of 42 U.S.C. §§ 1985.

42. On information and belief, the aforesaid defendants, and each of them, engaged in actions
in furtherance of the aims of a conspiracy that resulted in the deprivation of the aforesaid
constitutional and statutory rights of plaintiff.

COUNT II

VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION

43.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation set forth above as if fully set

forth herein.

44.  The City of Chester and Widener are state actors for purposes of 42 U.S.C. §1983.

45.  These Defendants violated Plaintiff’s rights to equal protection because they A.

discriminated and retaliated against him based upon his disability. B. discriminated and retaliated
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against him based on his race, and C. he was treated differently not because of his race or his

disability but his status as a “class of one.”

46.  They also violated his equal protection rights when for arbitrary and capricious reasons

failed to follow their own policies concerning accommodations.

47.  Plaintiff suffered injuries as a result of the Defendants conduct. First he was dismissed
from the pre-med program. Second, he lost his jobs as tutor and Advisor and Operations
Manager at the University. Third, he suffered emotional distress, anxiety embarrassment and

fear.

COUNT IV

INVASION OF PRIVACY (U.S. Cons. Amend 1V)

48.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding allegation as if fully set forth

herein.

49. At a minimum and pursuant to the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, Plaintiff
has a reasonable expectation of privacy with respect to his Facebook account and more

importantly his communications with medical professionals.

50.  In Particular, defendants obtained medical information without the consent of plaintiff

from the hospitals he was admitted to.

COUNT V
VIOLATION OF THE REHABILITATION ACT

51.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding allegation as if fully set forth

herein.
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52.  Widener is in receipt of federal funds and is a federal contractor. Hence it is bound to

observe the requirement under 29 U.S.C. § 704 of the Rehabilitation Act.

53.  In pertinent part, The Rehabilitation Act defines the term “individual with a disability”

means any person who “...is regarded as having such an impairment...”

54.  When Defendant employees of Defendant Widener regarded Plaintiff as having suffered
a mental disability, it was obligated to provide accommodations with respect to both his status as

a student and employee.

55. Widener refused to give Plaintiff any accommodation instead choosing to terminate his

employment and dismissing him as a student.

COUNT VI - INTERCEPTION OF
ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS UNDER THE ECPA

56.  Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege each and every allegation above as if fully set forth herein.
57.  Plaintiffs and the Class assert this Count against all Defendants, jointly and severally,
pursuant to §§2511 and 2520 of the ECPA, 18 U.S.C. §§2511 and 2520.
58.  Section 2511 of the ECPA provides in part:
(1) Except as otherwise specifically provided in this chapter any person who-

(a) Intentionally intercepts, endeavors to intercept or procures any
other person to intercept, or endeavor to intercept, any...electronic communications;

(b) intentionally uses, or endeavor to use, the contents of
any...electronic communication knowing or having reason to know that the information was

obtained through the interception of a[n]...electronic communication in violation of this
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subsection; ...shall be punished as provided in subsection (4) or shall be subject to suit as
provided in subsection (5).

59.  Section 2520 of the ECPA provided in part:

(a) In general — Except as provided in section 2511(2)(a)(ii), any person
whose...electronic communication is intercepted...or intentionally used in violation of this
chapter may in a civil action recover from the person or entity which engaged in that violation
such relief as may be appropriate.

(b) Relief — In the action under this section, appropriate relief includes —

(D such preliminary and other equitable or declaratory relief as may be
appropriate

2) damages under subsection (c) and punitive damages in appropriate cases;
and

3) a reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation costs reasonably incurred.

60. Section 2510 of the ECPA, setting forth the definition of the terms in §2511,
defines “person” to include “any employee, or agent of the United States or any State or political
subdivision thereof...” 18 U.S.C. §2510(6). Accordingly, each Defendant is a “person” within
the meaning of §2511.

61. Section 2510 defines “electronic communication” to include “any transfer of
signs, signals, writing, imaging, sounds, data, or intelligence of any nature transmitted in whole
or in part by a wife, radio, electromagnetic, photo electronic, or photo optical system that affects
interstate or foreign commerce,...” 18 U.S.C. §2510(12). Accordingly, defendants’ went into

plaintiff’s e-mail and obtained information about plaintiff.
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62.  Section 2510 defines “intercept” to mean “the aural or other acquisition of the
contents of any wire, electronic, or oral communication through the use of any electronic,
mechanical, or other device. 18 U.S.C. §2510(4) Section 2510 defines “electronic, mechanical,
or other device” to mean “any device or apparatus which can be used to intercept a wire, oral, or
electronic communication,” subject to exclusions not relevant to this action. 18 U.S.C. §2510(5)

63. By virtue of the foregoing, Plaintiff is a “person whose...electronic
communication is intercepted...or intentionally used in violation of this chapter” within the
meaning of §2520.

64. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants are liable to Plaintiff

for their violations of §§2511 and 2520 of the ECPA.

65.  Since Plaintiff first learned of Defendants’ unlawful accessing of his Facebook
account on March 17, 2011, this action is timely and not beyond ECPA’s appli8cable statute of
limitations.

66. Defendant’s actions complained of herein were conscious, intentional, wanton
and malicious, entitling Plaintiff to an award of punitive damages.

67.  Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law for Defendants continued violation of the

ECPA.
COUNT vII
STORED COMMUNICATIONS ACT (18 U.S.C.§2701)
68. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

69. Section 2701 of the SCA provides, in pertinent part:

Except as provided in subsection (¢) of this section, whoever-
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1) intentionally accesses without authorization a facility through which an
electronic communication service is provided; or
2) intentionally exceeds an authorization to access that facility;

and thereby obtains, alters or prevents authorized access to a wire or electronic

communication while it is in electronic storage such system shall be punished as provided
in subsection (b) of this section.

70. Section 2711 of the SCA defines “electronic communication” as “any transfer
signs, signals, writing, images, sounds, data or intelligence of any nature transmitted in whole or
in part by a wire, radio, electromagnetic, photo electronic or photo optical system that affects
interstate or foreign commerce...” 18 U.S.C. §§2711, 2510(12). Accordingly, the webcam
images complained of are “electronic communications’ within the meaning o the SCA.

71. Section 2711 of the SCA defines “person” to include “any employee, or agent of
the United states of a State or political subdivision thereof, and any individual, partnership
association...” 18 U.S.C. §§2711, 2510(6). Accordingly, all Defendants are “persons” within the
meaning of the SCA.

72.  Section 2711 of the SCA defines “electronic storage” to include “any temporary
intermediate storage of a wire or electronic communication incidental to the electronic
transmission thereof... “18 U.S.C. §§2711, 2510(17)(A).

73.  Defendants’ use and access of Plaintiff’s Facebook images constitutes an
unauthorized acquisition of stored electronic communications in violation of the SCA.

74.  Section 2701(b) of the SCA provides punishment in those instances where the
unauthorized acquisition of stored electronic communications was not done for commercial gain

or advantage of “a fine under this title or imprisonment for not more than six months, or both...”
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Section 2711 of the SCA defines “person” to include “any employee, or agent of the United
states of a State or political subdivision thereof, and any individual, partnership association...”
18 U.S.C. §2701(b)(b)(B).
1) Actual damages, but not less than liquidated damages computed at the rate
of $100.00 a day for each day of violation, or $1,000.00, whichever is higher.
2) Punitive damages.
3) A reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation costs reasonably incurred.
COUNT VIII - INVASION OF
PRIVACY; PENNSYLVANIA COMMON LAW
75.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding allegation as if fully set
forth herein.
76. At all times material hereto, and pursuant to the common law of Pennsylvania,
Plaintiff had a reasonable expectation of privacy with respect to his Facebook account.
77.  Plaintiff was never informed of Defendant’s capability and practice of
unauthorized access of his Facebook account.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, request judgment in their favor and against
Defendants, Widener University, City of Chester Pennsylvania, David Coughlin, Denise Gifford,
Patrick Sullivan, and Matthew Donohue
1) for compensatory damages;
2) for punitive damages;
3) for liquidated damages pursuant to the PWESA;
4) for attorneys’ fees and costs;

5) for declaratory and injunctive relief; and
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6) for such other and further relief as this Court deems just and appropriate.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues for which a right to jury trial exists.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff demands judgment, jointly and severally, against the

defendants and pray for the following relief:

1.

2.

Compensatory damages;
Emotional damages;

Pain and Suffering;

Punitive Damages;

Attorneys’ Fees and Costs; and

Such other relief as the Court may d.

Lewis P. Hannah, Esquire

Attorney for Plaintiff
1315 Walnut Street, Suite 1326

Clinton L. Johnson, Esq

Attorney for Plaintiff
1315 Walnut Street, Suite 1326
Philadelphia, PA 19107

Clintonjohnson1010@comcast.net

Dated: | ;[22 ZZ 2



